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Date Received:

Parcel No.: Fee Schedule

Ward: - Please make check payable to Treasurer, City of Pittsburgh
Zoning Classification: Individual Landmark Nomination: $100.00

Bldg. Inspector: District Nomination: $250.00

Council District:

1. HISTORIC NAME OF PROPERTY:
Engine Company No. 28

2. CURRENT NAME OF PROPERTY: Pittsburgh EMS Office

3. LOCATION
a. Street: _700 Filbert Street
b. City, State, Zip Code: _Pittsburgh PA 15232
c. Neighborhood: _Shadyside

4. OWNERSHIP
d. Owner(s): _City of Pittsburgh
e. Street: _401 Grant Street
f. City, State, Zip Code: _Pittsburgh PA 15219 Phone: (412)-255-8800

5. CLASSIFICATION AND USE — Check all that apply

Type Ownership Current Use:
X Structure O Private — home EMS Station
O District O Private — other

1 Site X Public — government

O Object O Public - other

[ Place of religious worship




6. NOMINATED BY:
a. Name:__Matthew W.C. Falcone for Preservation Pittsburgh
b. Street: 1501 Reedsdale Street, Suite 5003
c. City, State, Zip: Pittsburgh, Pa, 15233
d. Phone: (_412) 256 - 8755 Email: _ mfalcone@preservationpgh.org

7. DESCRIPTION
Provide a narrative description of the structure, district, site, or object. If it has been altered over time,
indicate the date(s) and nature of the alteration(s). (Attach additional pages as needed)

If Known:
a. Year Built: 1898
b. Architectural Style: _Renaissance
c. Architect/Builder: _Henry S Bair

Narrative: See Attached

8. HISTORY Provide a history of the structure, district, site, or object. Include a bibliography of sources
consulted. (Attach additional pages as needed.) Include copies of relevant source materials with the
nomination form (see Number 11).

Narrative: See Attached

9. SIGNIFICANCE
The Pittsburgh Code of Ordinances, Title 11, Historic Preservation, Chapter 1: Historic Structures,
Districts, Sites and Objects lists ten criteria, at least one of which must be met for Historic Designation.
Describe how the structure, district, site, or object meets one or more of these criteria and complete a
narrative discussing in detail each area of significance. (Attach additional pages as needed)

The structure, building, site, district, object is significant because of (check all that apply):
1. O Its location as a site of a significant historic or prehistoric event or activity;

2. X lts identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the
cultural, historic, architectural, archaeological, or related aspects of the development
of the City of Pittsburgh, State of Pennsylvania, Mid-Atlantic region, or the United
States;

3. X Its exemplification of an architectural type, style or design distinguished by
innovation, rarity, uniqueness, or overall quality of design, detail, materials, or
craftsmanship;

4. X lts identification as the work of an architect, designer, engineer, or builder whose
individual work is significant in the history or development of the City of Pittsburgh,
the State of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States;

5. O Its exemplification of important planning and urban design techniques distinguished
by innovation, rarity, uniqueness, or overall quality of design or detail;




10.

11.

6. [ Its location as a site of an important archaeological resource;

7. O Its association with important cultural or social aspects or events in the history of
the City of Pittsburgh, the State of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United
States;

8. O Its exemplification of a pattern of neighborhood development or settlement
significant to the cultural history or traditions of the City, whose components may lack
individual distinction;

9. X Its representation of a cultural, historic, architectural, archaeological, or related
theme expressed through distinctive areas, properties, sites, structures, or objects that
may or may not be contiguous; or

10. X Its unique location and distinctive physical appearance or presence representing an

established and familiar visual feature of a neighborhood, community, or the City of
Pittsburgh.

See Attached

INTEGRITY

In addition, the ordinance specifies that “Any area, property, site, structure or object that meets any
one or more of the criteria listed above shall also have sufficient integrity of location, design,
materials, and workmanship to make it worthy of preservation or restoration”. (Attach additional
pages as needed)

Narrative: See Attached.

NOTIFICATION/CONSENT OF PROPERTY OWNER(S)

1.3(a)(2) Community information process.

Preceding submission of a nomination form for a District, the Historic Review Commission shall conduct
at least one (1) public information meeting within or near the boundaries of the proposed district, which
shall include at least one (1) member of the Department of City Planning and one (1) Commission member,
to discuss the possible effects of designation. Notice shall be given to the owners of property in the proposed
district in accordance with Section 1.3(b) below. The final public information meeting shall be held no
more than six months before the nomination form is submitted.

1.3(a)(1)(a) Subsection F.

In the case of a nomination as a Historic District, by community-based organizations or by any individual,
but in either event the nomination shall be accompanied by a petition signed by the owners of record of
twenty-five (25) percent of the properties within the boundaries of the proposed District.

- Please attach documentation of your efforts to gain property owner’s consent.-

** The nomination of any religious property shall be accompanied by a signed letter of consent from the
property’s owner.




12. PHOTO LOGS: Please Attach
13. BIBLIOGRAPHY: Please Attach

14. NOMINATION FORM PREPARED BY:

a. Name: Calvin A Yoder & Dana Cress

b. Street: 1605 Miriam Street

City, State, Zip: _Swissvale PA 15218
Phone: (724) _ 931-6839 Email: _cay36@pitt.edu

o

e. Signature:




HisTorIC REVIEW COMMISSION

Division of Development Administration and Review
City of Pittsburgh, Department of City Planning

200 Ross Street, Third Floor

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15219

HISTORIC NOMINATION — INSTRUCTIONS

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILLING OUT THE NOMINATION FORM

1. Indicate the original name of the property if it is currently known by a different name; e.g. Union
Station.

2. Indicate the current name of the property

3. Indicate the street address for the property. For districts, attach a separate sheet listing the street address of
each property included in the nomination and a clear street map of the area showing the boundaries of the
proposed district.

4. Indicate the owner of the property and his or her mailing address. For districts, attach a separate sheet
listing the owner of each property and his or her mailing address.

5. Check the classification as indicated.

a. “Historic Structure” means anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires directly or
indirectly, a permanent location on the land, including walks, fences, signs, steps and sidewalks at
which events that made a significant contribution to national, state or local history occurred or
which involved a close association with the lives of people of nations, state or local significance;
or an outstanding example of a period, style, architectural movement, or method of construction;
or one of the last surviving works of a pioneer architect, builder or designer; or one of the last
survivors of a particular style or period of construction.

b. “Historic District” means a defined territorial division of land which shall include more than one
(1) contiguous or related parcels of property, specifically identified by separate resolution, at which
events occurred that made a significant contribution to national, state, or local history, or which
contains more than one historic structure or historic landmarks, or which contains groups, rows or
sets of structures or landmarks, or which contains an aggregate example of a period, style,
architectural movements or method of construction, providing distinguishing characteristics of the
architectural type or architectural period it represents.

C. “Historic Site” means the location of a significant event, a prehistoric or historic occupation or
activity, or a building or structure whether standing, ruined or vanished, where the location itself
maintains historical or archaeological value regardless of the value of any existing structures.

d. “Historic Object” means a material thing of historic significance for functional, aesthetic cultural
or scientific reasons that may be, by nature or design, moveable yet related to a specific setting or
environment.

6. Indicate the person(s) responsible for the nomination. Please note: According to the Historic Preservation
Ordinance:




“Nomination of an area, property, site, or object for consideration and designation as a Historic Structure,
Historic District, Historic Site, or Historic Object may be submitted to the Historic Review Commission by
any of the following:

®o0o0 o

The Mayor of the City of Pittsburgh

A Member of the Historic Review Commission

A Member of the City Planning Commission

A Member of the Pittsburgh City Council

The Owner of Record or any person residing in the City of Pittsburgh for at least one year (for the

nomination of a Historic Structure, Site or Object)

=-h

applicable:

A signed petition of 25% of the owners of record (for the nomination of a Historic District)

Write a physical description of the nominated property or district. Include the following information as

architectural style(s)

arrangement of architectural elements
building materials

method(s) of construction

visual character

street pattern

density

type and arrangement of buildings
topography

history of the development of the area

8. Provide a narrative history of the structure, district, site, or object. Include the following information when

available:

History of the development of the area;

Circumstances which brought the structure, district, site, or object into being;
Biographical information on architects, builders, developers, artisans, planners, or others
who created or contributed to the structure, district, site, or object;

Contextual background on building type(s) and/or style(s);

Importance of the structure, district, site, or object in the larger community over the
course of its existence.

Include a bibliography of all sources consulted at the end. Where historical information
is uncertain or disputed, reference sources in the text.

9. Listed below are the categories and criteria for historic designation as set forth in the Pittsburgh Historic
Preservation Ordinance. Describe in detail how the structure, district, site, or object meets one or more of
the criteria. According to that legislation in Section 1.4 of the Pittsburgh Historic Preservation Ordinance,
Criteria for Designation, a building must meet at least one of the following criteria in order to be designated:

1.

2.

Its location as a site of a significant historic or prehistoric event or activity;

Its identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the cultural, historic,
architectural, archaeological, or related aspects of the development of the City of Pittsburgh,
State of Pennsylvania, Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States;

Its exemplification of an architectural type, style or design distinguished by innovation, rarity,
uniqueness, or overall quality of design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship;

Its identification as the work of an architect, designer, engineer, or builder whose individual
work is significant in the history or development of the City of Pittsburgh, the State of
Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States;




5. Its exemplification of important planning and urban design techniques distinguished by
innovation, rarity, uniqueness, or overall quality of design or detail;

6. Its location as a site of an important archaeological resource;

7. Its association with important cultural or social aspects or events in the history of the City of
Pittsburgh, the State of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States;

8. Its exemplification of a pattern of neighborhood development or settlement significant to the
cultural history or traditions of the City, whose components may lack individual distinction;

9. Its representation of a cultural, historic, architectural, archaeological, or related theme
expressed through distinctive areas, properties, sites, structures, or objects that may or may not
be contiguous; or

10. Its unique location and distinctive physical appearance or presence representing an established
and familiar visual feature of a neighborhood, community, or the City of Pittsburgh.

10. In addition, the ordinance specifies that “Any area, property, site, structure or object that meets any one or
more of the criteria listed above shall also have sufficient integrity of location, design, materials, and
workmanship to make it worthy of preservation or restoration.”

11. The nomination must be accompanied by evidence that the nominator has made a good-faith effort to
communicate his or her interest in the historic designation of this landmark or district to the owner(s) of
these properties. Describe how this was done, and attach evidence that the owner(s) of the nominated
landmark or of the properties within the nominated district have been informed of the nomination. This
may include a copy of a notification letter with a mailing list, a letter confirming phone calls, or a petition
signed by affected property owners.

12. Clear photographs of the nominated buildings or districts should accompany the nomination form. The
applicant shall include photographs of all elevations of an individual building and its setting, or the front
elevation of each building in a district. In the case of closely spaced buildings or rowhouses, several
buildings may be included in one photograph. Each photograph must be labeled with the street address of
the building(s) and the month and year the photograph was taken.

13. Copies of major supporting documents should accompany the nomination form. Such documents may
include, but are not limited to:

historic photographs;

historic and contemporary maps;

historic or contemporary texts describing the subject property or district;

historic or contemporary texts describing people, places, or events that comprise the
historic context of the subject property or district.

e Oversized materials (such as architectural drawings) and materials too fragile to copy
may be accepted.

PLEASE NOTE: It is the responsibility of the nominator to provide the Historic Review Commission and its Staff
with information sufficient to fairly evaluate the nomination. Incomplete nomination forms will not be accepted.
Fee must be included. Nominations must be submitted in both electronic and hard-copy format.




CHECKLIST: Engine Company No. 28

O #1-6 Nomination Form: Address, Ownership, Classification, Nominator Info.
[0 #7: Description
[0 #8: History

0 #9: Significance

O #10 Integrity

O #11 Consent of Property Owners

O #12 Photographs of Property: numbered and labeled
O #13 List of Supporting Documents

O Fee

O Hard-Copy nomination

O Electronic nomination (Word Format for text).
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Engine Company No. 28 Building
Historic Nomination Form

Addendum



Individual Property Historic Nomination, Attachment to Form: Engine Company No. 28 Building, 700
Filbert St., Pittsburgh, PA 15232

Individual Property Historic Nomination Form

Historic Name(s): Engine Company No. 28 Building
Current Name: Pittsburgh EMS Office

Location: 700 Filbert St., Pittsburgh, PA 15232
Neighborhood: Shadyside

Ownership: Publicly Owned

Type: Structure

Historic Use: Government

Current Use: Government

Descriptive Narrative

Year Built: 1899
Architectural Style: Italian Renaissance
Architect: Harry S. Bair

7. Description

The Engine Company No. 28 Building is a two-story, five-bay brick building in the Italian
Renaissance style. The building is located on the south corner of the intersection of Filbert and
Elmer Streets, utilizing most of the space on the enlarged city lot, with some parking spaces
along the northwest and southeast elevations (Figure 1) (Photograph 1). The light-brown bricks
are laid in a stretched bond pattern. Recessed bands of brick are located around the building
within the first story. A stone belt course separates the first and second stories. The flat roofline
includes a metal cornice with corbels and dentils (Photograph 2).

The fagade (northeast elevation) faces Filbert Street with five bays; the end bays consisting of
window openings and the middle three bays consisting of arches. Two of the arched bays contain
wood and glass paneled garage doors for vehicle access. The current arrangement has six-over-
six glass panels, but it is apparent that other panels are painted over glass. The northern arched
bay contains a recessed pedestrian entrance. Each arched bay has a hood mold and keystone. A
plaque within the recessed bay reads (Photograph 3):

“ERECTED A-D-1898
J.O. BROWN
DIRECTOR

HARRY S. BAIR ARCHT.
D.P.S.”

The northernmost and southernmost first-story bays each contain a single recessed, one-over-
one, double-hung, wood-sash window protected by an ornamental iron grille (Photograph 4).
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Above the central bay is a series of terracotta panels which read
“No-28-Engine-Company-No-28” (Photograph 5). The second story contains centered span of
seven one-over-one, double-hung, wood-sash windows in decorative arcading (Photograph 6),
including fixed semi-circle windows located within the arches above the double hung windows.
Most of these fixed windows have been painted over. Dentils are located below the continuous
sills, egg and dart molded pilasters between window arches, and ornamental foliate arch
spandrels (Photograph 7). On the second story, the northern and southern bays each contain an
ornamental terracotta crest. The southern crest represents the City of Pittsburgh (Photograph 8)
and the northern crest represents the State of Pennsylvania (Photograph 9).

The northwest elevation fronts Elmer Street with six bays (Photograph 10). The eastern bay on
the first story is a window opening to a recessed pedestrian entrance with a soldier arch and stone
sill. Next to this bay is a patterned brick arch (Photograph 11). The arch contains a tripartite,
wood-frame casement window, with a large semi-circular fixed window, which has been painted
over. The next bay has stone arch with a keystone containing two casement windows with a
fixed semi-circle window (Photograph 12). The fourth bay consists of a similar arch but with a
metal garage door (Photograph 13). This door has been replaced and is not original to the
building. The fifth bay consists of a brick arched bay with a wood paneled garage door
(Photograph 14). The western bay on the northwest elevation consists of a one-over-one, double-
hung, wood-sash window with a brick soldier arch and stone sill. The second story consists of
eleven one-over-one, double-hung, wood-sash windows. The eastern and western-most
fenestrations are arched windows with brick arch openings and stone sills. The center three
windows have soldier arches with a keystones and stone sills. The remaining windows are
capped with soldier arches sans keystones, with stone sills. There are two modern downspouts
running along the height of the building, but these do bend around architectural features leaving
the integrity intact (Photograph 15).

The southeastern elevations fronts onto an adjacent lot (Photograph 16). The building’s current
entrance is located on the easternmost side of this elevation (Photograph 17). Neither the door
nor the awning above it are historic, and the top of the entryway is infilled with brick. After two
bays on the eastern side, the building recedes one bay and foregoes most of the decorative
detailing visible on the street-facing elevations, including the cornice and the deeply banded first
story. On the first story of this facade, there are four windows which have been replaced with
glass block. At the western end, there is an area which has been extensively modified. Presently,
there is a single-story modern addition made of corduroy style cement block which is used for
flammable gas storage (Photograph 18). There is evidence in the brickwork where this connects
to the main building of an archway in yellow brick, infill inside of the arch, and infill or evidence
of a roof above the arch. The second story of this facade features four, plain, double-hung, wood-
sash windows and four small casement windows. There is a staircase down to the basement on
this facade, with some original railings in place (Photograph 19). There is also a small alley
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which runs along this side of the building. A stone wall runs along the edge of the lot, topped
with an iron fence (Photograph 20 and Photograph 21).

The rear facade faces onto Culloden Way (Photograph 22). It is also absent of decorative
features. The first story fenestration of this elevation has been heavily altered. There are five
window openings which have all been filled with glass block. There is also evidence of a tall
opening which was likely a doorway at one point, but has been infilled with brick (Photograph
23). There are two, wood-frame windows, one double-hung, wood-sash window, and one wood
casement window on the second story. There are also two sets of wooden doors on the second
story (Photographs 24 and 25). Mounted above these each is a wooden post. These would have
originally served to lift hay bales to feed horses stabled in the fire station.

A small, third-story tower, the former hose tower, rests atop the building’s roof and houses the
hose racks. The tower is capped with a shallow-pitched hip roof and sided in asphalt shingles.
Fenestration includes double-hung, wood-sash windows (Photograph 26-28).

The interior of the engine bay is often visible from the street as doors are typically left open
during the working day. The engine bay interior has original tiling and arches present throughout
(Photograph 29). Other notable interior historic features include the fireplace in the first-floor
and second-floor offices, the main staircase, and the interior of the hose tower. Evidence of
openings for fireman's poles are visible, although sealed over. Drop ceilings are present in most
of the building excluding the engine bay.
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8. History

The plans to construct a new engine house in the center of Pittsburgh’s aristocratic residential
area in February of 1898 when the city bought a property at Baum and Graham Street for
$10,800 intending to build the new 28th Engine Company station there. At the time, a resident of
the ward said, “The rapid growth of that area with the city, and the distance at which the nearest
engine house is situated makes better fire protection than is now afforded a necessity.” The plan
to construct upon that site, however, was foiled when a clause was discovered in the deed that
stipulated only dwellings may be constructed on the property. Because of this complicated
situation, the site was abandoned and in May of 1898 the site at the corner of Filbert and Elmer
Streets was selected for the new engine house and purchased for $8,550. This was to be the first
recorded building located at the site (Figure 2 and Figure 3). The city’s resolution that year, No.
566, dedicated $33,324 plus extra work as required for the construction of the building by the
firm Kerr & Fox. This extra work ended up totaling $1,551. The building was designed by Harry
S. Bair, an architect who was serving as the chief architect for Pittsburgh’s Department of Public
Safety.!

Upon its completion, the building boasted several features. The first floor included a sitting
room, wash room, an apparatus room, and stalls for six teams of horses. The second floor
consisted of the dormitories for 18 men, a work room, lavatories, and the hay loft. The basement
also included spaces such as a kitchen, drying room, dressing room, and a 10°x13’ swimming
pool. Contemporary newspaper articles from the building’s period of construction described the
new facility as “one of the best in the city...provided with all modern apparatus and
conveniences” and “the handsomest building of the kind in Allegheny county.” One article listed
the architectural details of the building, including the buff brick, Cleveland stone, terracotta, and
arched doorways, “a credit to the designer and to the city” (Figure 4).?

The station opened on November 3, 1899, serving the city’s 20th ward. During its first years of
operation, the station acquired several state-of-the-art horse-drawn engines. A second-size
Metropolitan crane-neck engine built by the LaFrance Fire Engine Company was assigned to the
company on May 25, 1900 and required three horses to pull. On June 14, 1900, a two-horse
Champion chemical engine and hose wagon from the Fire Extinguisher Manufacturing Company
was delivered to the station.®

The Engine Company No. 28 buildings was a fine enough building that still 40 years later, in
1939, one Post-Gazette reporter was reminiscing about the construction of the building. He
fondly recollects the building as “palatial in its dimensions; like a palace in its furnishings”, and

! The Pittsburgh Press, “Cannot Build,” 08 March 1898, p.1; Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, “New Ordinances Presented,”
24 May 1898, p. 7.

2 The Pittsburgh Press, “New Engine House,” 29 October 1899, p. 12; The Pittsburgh Press, “New Engine House:
Twentieth Ward Building will be the Finest in the City,” 17 November 1898; Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, “The
Building Boom: New Engine House and Many Residences,” 24 November 1898, p. 2; Pittsburgh Daily Post,
“Finest of the Kind in Allegheny County,” 17 November 1898, p. 5.

3 Howard V. Worley, Jr., Pittsburgh’s Vintage Firemen, (Saxonburg, PA: Howard V. Worley, Jr., 1997), 82.
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especially points out the quality of the captain’s room with its marble bathtub.* By 1967, the
station was not quite seen as so palatial; Donald Glunt, an Oakland Justice of the Peace,
described the building as a fire trap, and said, “The wooden floor in Engine Company 28 creaks
and strains to support two pumpers and a squad wagon. Two firemen have been hurt and are on
disability leave due to injuries suffered on this floor, when they tripped on the loose board.”® By
1978, the No. 20 Engine House building was serving as the Pittsburgh EMS Headquarters, a
capacity to which it has served up through the present.

* Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, “Flashbacks,” 09 November 1939, p. 8.
> Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, “Fire House Conditions Criticized,” 12 August 1967, p. 11.
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9. Significance

1. Its location as a site of a significant historic or prehistoric event or activity

This building does not meet this Criterion.

2. lts identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the cultural, historic,
architectural, archaeological, or related aspects of the development of the City of Pittsburgh,
State of Pennsylvania, Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States;

This building does not meet this Criterion.

3. Its exemplification of an architectural type, style, or design distinguished by innovation, rarity,
uniqueness, or overall quality of design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship;

The fire station embodies the architectural style of Italian Renaissance Revival, and is
representative of the revival architecture associated with the national Eclectic Movement.
The Eclectic Movement drew on various influences of Western architectural traditions,
including Ancient Classical, Medieval, and Renaissance Classical elements. This method
of stylization was in contrast to other style of the same period, such as Romanesque
Revival and Queen Anne. Institutional buildings and high style residences began utilizing
these architectural revival styles as early as the 1880s, and dwellings were constructed
with simplified revival styles in the early twentieth century.®

In A Field Guide to American Houses, McAlester identified the Italian Renaissance
Revival style as predominantly constructed from 1890 through 1935, but occurred less
frequently than its contemporary revival designs, sch as Colonial Revival or Tudor
Revival styles. The Italian Renaissance Revival style more closely mimicked Italian
architecture than earlier American renditions of Italian design, such as the Italianate
style.”

McAlester defined the identifying features of Italian Renaissance Revival to include: a
low-pitched hipped or flat roof; wide, overhanging eaves supported by decorative
brackets; ceramic tile roof materials; smaller upper-story windows; round arches above
doors, windows, and porches; entrances accented by classical columns or pilasters; and
symmetrical facades. Arcading, balustrades, and masonry are also common details. There
are four principal subtypes of the style, based on roof type and symmetry: simple hip
roof; hipped roof with projecting wings; asymmetrical; and flat roof.®

® Virginia McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses, (New York: Alfred Knopf, 2013) 406-407.
7 1bid., 496-508.
& Ibid.
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This style is typically found in upscale, architect designed buildings. Typical building
types include public buildings, mansions, schools, government offices, and churches.®
This building is a representative example of Italian Renaissance Revival. It possesses
many trademark features, including arcading, rounded arches, broad eaves, and masonry
construction. The exterior finish, while not rusticated, is deeply patterned on the first
story and smooth on the second, calling to mind classical Renaissance designs such as the
Palazzo Medici (Figure 5). The building is also created to an imposing scale, being
substantially larger than most buildings in the area.

Renaissance Revival is relatively rare style in Pittsburgh. Other examples are primarily
similar historic fire stations such as Pittsburgh Fire Bureau Station 18 located at 2828
Northumberland Street. The residential form may be found in the mansion at 4405
Bayard Street, and as an influence in

several other homes in the Schenley Farms Historic District. All of these buildings have
substantial design differences within the style from 700 Filbert Street, which is exemplar
of the style as defined by the Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission.

In relation to the style progression of firehouses on a national basis, Engine Company No.
28 reflected a trend occurring across the country that transitioned from red-brick
firehouses built during the mid-nineteenth to be more reflective of commercial
architecture to more elaborate styles contemporary to the Industrial Revolution. Dr.
Rebecca Zurier classified this period as “Castles and Palaces, Eclectic Architecture,
Politics, and Sentiment: 1890-1918.” During this period, cities began to favor firehouses
that resembled mediaeval castles, French chateaux, Italian villas, and Swiss chalets.
While Beaux-Arts and Neo-Classical styles dominated other government buildings
during turn-of-the-twentieth-century, no prevailing opinion dictated the proper style of a
fire station and, as a result, architects utilized a variety of elements. Zurier further
describes how the period between 1905 and 1940 emphasized modern residential areas of
fire stations.® The Engine Company No. 28 building, while constructed just a few years
before this timeframe, touted its modern residential amenities, including a swimming
pool in the basement.!

9 Pennsylvania Historical & Museum Commission, “Italian Renaissance Revival Style 1890-1930,”
http://www.phmc.state.pa.us/portal/communities/architecture/styles/italian-renaissance.html.

10 Rebecca Zurier, The American Firehouse: An Architectural and Social History, (New York: Abbeville Press,
1982), 89-131.

1 pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 29 October 1899, pg. 12.
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4. Its identification as the work of an architect, designer, engineer, or builder whose
individual work is significant in the history of development of the City of Pittsburgh, the State
of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States;

The former Engine Company No. 28 building was designed by local architect Harry S
Bair, whose work is significant in the history of the Pittsburgh region.

Pittsburgh-based architect, Harry Samuel Bair, served as the chief architect for the
Pittsburgh Department of Public Safety at the turn of the twentieth century, and designed
the Engine Company No. 28 building.? Bair was born in Latrobe, Pennsylvania on
August 9, 1874 to Pennsylvania-born parents, Joseph Bair and Mary (Slater) Bair. The
Bair family moved to Pittsburgh by 1876, where his father became a postal clerk while
his mother raised three sons: David, Harry, and Joseph.*®

Bair first appears in the city directory in 1893, at the age of 19, listed as a draftsman at an
unnamed architecture firm. According to directories, he worked as a draftsman for three
years, seemingly as an apprentice, until he became an architect himself in 1896.% It is
undetermined when his position as city architect began, but he held the position by 1897
when the plans for the Engine Company building began. Bair was also tasked with the
design of the No. 2 Police Station, formerly located at the corner of Centre Avenue and
Devilliers Street in the Hill District. This building was also constructed in the Italian
Renaissance Revival style, with the first-floor fenestration consisting of large arches,
rusticated first-floor exterior stone finish, quoins, and dentils along the cornice (Figure
6).1° Although the city experienced significant growth during the late nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries, few records indicate his involvement in the design of
Pittsburgh’s municipal buildings during his time working for the city. In 1904, Bair
started his own architecture practice. He diverted from municipal buildings for several
years, but in 1920, Bair designed the municipal building for the Borough of Dormont,

12 The Brickbuilder (Boston: Rogers & Mason, 1897), vol.6, pg. 132.
https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=iau.31858033436399&view=1up&seq=>5.

13 US Census, 1880; Census Place: Pittsburgh, Allegheny, Pennsylvania; Roll: 1092; Family History Film: 1255092;
Page: 281C; Enumeration District: 112; Image: 0225.

14 J.F. Diffenbacher, J.F. Diffenbacher’s Directory of Pittsburg and Allegheny Cities for 1893, (Pittsburg:
Diffenbacher & Thurston, 1893), 123; J.F. Diffenbacher, J.F. Diffenbacher’s Directory of Pittsburg and Allegheny
Cities for 1896, (Pittsburg: Diffenbacher & Thurston, 1896), 134.

15 City of Pittsburgh, Municipal Record: Minutes of the Proceedings of the Select Council of the City of Pittsburgh
for the Year 1901-1902, (Pittsburgh: Devine & Co., 1902), 123; Pittsburgh City Photograph, “Center Avenue at
Dinwiddie Street,” 31 January 1933, Pittsburgh City Photograph Collection,
https://historicpittsburgh.org/islandora/object/pitt%3A715.3317958.CP.
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located on the corner of West Liberty Avenue and Wisconsin Avenue, with Italian
Renaissance Revival style elements.

Bair was also notable throughout the region as an expert in movie theater design, with
examples of his work including: the Kelly Strayhorn Theater (Regent Theater) in the East
Liberty neighborhood, built in 1914 (Figure 7); the Strand Theater in the Oakland
neighborhood, built in 1926 (Figure 8); the Plaza Il Theater in the Bloomfield
neighborhood, built in 1917 (Figure 9); the Belmar Theater in the Homewood
neighborhood, built in 1914 (demolished) (Figure 10); the Querner Theater (Frederick
Theatre) in the Lawrenceville neighborhood, built in 1920 (demolished) (Figure 11); the
Arcadia Theater in New Bethlehem, PA, built in 1916 (demolished) (Figure 12); the
Columbia Theater in Brookville, PA (Figure 13); the Liberty Theater in New Kensington,
PA, built in 1921 (demolished) (Figure 14); the Strand Theater in Elmira, NY, built in
1915 (demolished) (Figure 15); and the Regent Theater in Elmira, NY, built in 1915
(demolished) (Figure 16).%7

As evident, Bair held several design commissions for theaters throughout the region
during the 1910s and 1920s. Bair applied for membership to the American Institute of
Architects (AlA) in 1920, having worked as an accomplished independent architect for
several years at that point. On his application to the organization, Bair listed his office
building at 76 Vandergrift Building in Pittsburgh, but included no college or institution
for formal training. The AIA accepted his membership in 1921, but he soon fell behind in
his membership dues owing to illness. In 1925, Bair’s secretary, Thomas Ludlow,
informed the organization that Bair had suffered a “mental breakdown caused by over
work” which placed him in a sanitarium for several years.*® His discharge date from the
sanitarium is unknown, but Bair and his wife, Annie, moved to Glendale, California
between 1930 and 1935, where Bair died in 1936.

16 Architecture: The Professional Architectural Monthly, vol. XLI, no. 3 (New York: Charles Scribner’s Sons,
March 1920), 303.
17 Cinema Treasures, “Kelly Strayhorn Theater,” http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/16438; Cinema Treasures,
“Strand Theatre,” http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/6947; Cinema Treasures, “Plaza I1,”
http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/13449; Cinema Treasures, “Belmar Theater,”
http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/16787; Cinema Treasures, “Querner Theater,”
http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/24177; Cinema Treasures, “Arcadia Theatre,”
http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/29716; Architecture: The Professional Architectural Monthly, vol. XLII, no. 2
(New York: Charles Scribner’s Sons, August 1920); Cinema Treasures, “Columbia Theater,”
http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/9716; Cinema Treasures, “Liberty Theatre,”
http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/28171/photos/155900; Cinema Treasures, “Strand Theater,”
http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/18335; Cinema Treasures, “Regent Theater,”
http://cinematreasures.org/theaters/17065.
18 American Institute of Architects, AIA Historical Directory, “Harry S. Bair,”
http://content.aia.org/sites/default/files/2018-09/BairHarryS.pdf.
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The Engine Company No. 28 building represents an example of Bair’s elaborate designs
utilizing popular contemporary styles during his tenure as the chief architect for the
Pittsburgh Department of Public Works. It is worth noting that despite Bair’s role in the
development of Pittsburgh’s landscape of public buildings, there has been minimal
scholarship focusing on Bair and his works.

5. Its exemplification of important planning and urban design techniques distinguished by
innovation, rarity, uniqueness, or overall quality of design or detail;

This building does not meet this Criterion.

6. Its location as a site of an important archaeological resource;

This building does not meet this Criterion.

1. Its association with important cultural or social aspects or events in the history of the City of
Pittsburgh, the State of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States

This building does not meet this Criterion.

8. Its exemplification of a pattern of neighborhood development or settlement significant to the
cultural history or traditions of the City, whose components may lack individual distinction

This building does not meet this Criterion.

9. Its representation of a cultural, historic, architectural, archeological, or related theme expressed
through distinctive areas, properties, sites, structures, or objects that may or may not be
contiguous

At Pittsburgh’s founding as a borough in 1794, the municipality had a volunteer fire
department located at First Avenue and Chancery Lane, known as the Eagle Fire Engine
and Hose Company. The company owned a hand-pump engine, which was purchased the
town’s postmaster, John Johnston. The early years of the department relied on every
citizen to keep two or three buckets in the case of a fire. At the turn-of-the-nineteenth
century, Pittsburgh’s population increased significantly, resulting in a quickly expanding
municipality. As a result, Pittsburgh was incorporated as a city in 1816. Several other
volunteer companies came into existence in the expanding city through the first half of
the nineteenth century.®

19 Howard V. Worley, Jr., Pittsburgh’s Vintage Firemen, (Saxonburg, PA: Howard V. Worley, Jr., 1997), 5-21.
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The city experienced significant growth as an industrial hub by the 1840s, presenting new
challenges to the fire companies. Haphazard, rapid growth of labor-housing alongside
Pittsburgh’s iron and glass industries resulted in a polluted, urban environment and
exhausted public works. City blocks became denser, with taller buildings, exceeding the
capabilities of fire hoses and eliminating fire breaks that prevented the rapid spread of
fire. On the morning of April 10, 1845, a fire broke out that spread throughout the city
(Figure 17). Pittsburgh’s early fire companies were overwhelmed, with insufficient water
pressure and equipment to fight the flames. By the next morning, over one-third of the
city was lost to the fire. The fire destroyed as many as 1200 buildings, while displacing
2000 families, or about 12,000 individuals, from their homes.?

In the months and years following the fire, the city rapidly regrew and reevaluated its
municipal needs. Pittsburgh and Allegheny City formed the Firemen’s Association of
Pittsburgh and Allegheny in August of 1845 to promote order and efficiency between the
fire departments of each city. Fire companies during this period focused on obtaining new
equipment, training volunteers, and continuing their fraternal and social presence.
However, the growth of the city soon outgrew the capacity of these volunteer fire
companies once again.?

By the late 1860s, Pittsburgh’s city council officially requested that the state legislature
amend the city charter language to authorize the implementation of a full-time paid fire
department. This new charter was signed into law on March 23, 1870, which allowed the
City of Pittsburgh “to establish, organize and control a paid fire department in and for the
City of Pittsburgh to provide for the expenses thereof.” The city ordinance was put into
place on April 14, 1870. The money to fund the department was to be raised by a mill tax
of all insurance companies operating in the city. City officials appointed nine
commissioners to a board to convert the existing volunteer system to a paid municipal
department. These commissioners included industrialist M.K. Moorhead, Robert Finney,
R.W. Mackey, financier Henry Hays, Merchant Thomas Reese, W. M. McKelvey, John
H. Stewart, businessman John H. McElroy, and volunteer fireman John J. Torley.?

While the commissioners determined salaries and positions for the department, they also
decided to phase out manually-pulled, hand-pump engines for heavier, steam-powered,
horse-pulled machinery. The Pittsburgh Fire Department was functioning by the end of
1870. In January 1871, the department employed 69 men. The establishment of a
professional municipal fire department led to the development of a new city water supply
and distribution system, including increased water supplies for the city’s 410 water plugs

20 Donald Cooke, Jr., “The Great Fire of Pittsburgh in 1845,” in Western Pennsylvania History 51(2), pg. 127-153.
21 Worley, 32-39.
22 \Worley, 45.

12



Individual Property Historic Nomination, Attachment to Form: Engine Company No. 28 Building, 700
Filbert St., Pittsburgh, PA 15232

and the Brilliant Pumping Station. Additionally, new equipment and facilities were soon
needed to continually grow the new department’s capacity. The first engine company
building constructed after the establishment of the municipal fire department was Engine
Company No. 5 in the Hill District in 1872.%%

Major structure fires plagued the city’s fire department throughout the second half of the
nineteenth century, including the Lewis Foundry in 1873, the railroad riot fires in 1877,
the Allegheny County Courthouse in 1882, and Horne’s department store in 1897. By the
1890s, the fire department tripled in size from its inception to accommodate the
expanding city and continued to grow through the decade. City managers recognized the
safety of residences and business as high priorities to the city’s stability and provided
sufficient funds to the department in yearly budgets. Six engine companies, including
Engine Company No. 28, and three hook and ladder companies were added to the bureau
between 1894 and 1899. Engine Company No. 28 was the last company activated during
the nineteenth century, sharing space with Chemical Company No. 2. The building’s
location at an intersection allowed the engines to exit on either street, and was
deliberately placed in a dense, affluent city neighborhood.

The first decades of the twentieth century brought several technological advancements to
the Pittsburgh Bureau of Fire. In 1909, the bureau’s fire chief, Miles Humphreys,
requested the mayor and council determine a standard model of motorized fire truck, but
several years would pass before the first purchase of these vehicles. During this period,
Pittsburgh continued to grow; annexing the city’s largest acquisition, Allegheny City, in
1907, and two additional boroughs during the year 1911. All the while, the city continued
to protect its citizens with aging horse-drawn engines and discontinued steam-powered
vehicles. The fire bureau received its first gasoline-powered fire truck, a Type 10
combination hose and 40-gallon chemical tank truck built by American-LaFrance, in
November 1911, ordering three more by August 1912. At this point, the bureau began to
phase out its horse fleets, with 314 horses at the start of 1913 and numbering 285 by the
following year. The second half of the 1910s saw an end to a Pittsburgh firefighting era,
hastened by technological advancements that replaced engine house horses and firehouse
dogs. By 1920, over 75% of the force was motorized. Only two decades after the
construction of the Engine Company No. 28 building, many of its features, including
stables and hay loft, were outdated and no longer required in Pittsburgh firehouses.?

Along with landmarked Engine Co. No. 1, Engine Co. No. 3, and the co-nominated Troy
Hill Firehouse #11, this building helps to express Pittsburgh's public fire fighting history.

23 Worley, 45-49.
24 Worley, 51-65.
25 Worley, 87-91; Pittsburgh Fire Fighters, Pittsburgh Professional Fire Fighters: 100" Anniversary (Pittsburgh:
William G. Johnston, Co., 1974), 11-13.
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10. Its unique location and distinctive physical appearance or presence representing an established
and familiar visual feature of a neighborhood, community, or the City of Pittsburgh

The building is an imposing presence and local landmark in the Shadyside neighborhood
(see photograph 1). The large massing and Renaissance Revival style is significantly
larger and more pronounced than other buildings in the predominantly residential
neighborhood. Even those few buildings that are physically larger than the resource, such
as the Liberty Elementary School, are not as imposing as the former engine house, due to
setbacks from the street. The majority of buildings surrounding it are late-nineteenth
century residential buildings. This distinction is further made due to the architecture of
the building being of an unusual and sophisticated style that is relatively rare in the city,
especially in residential neighborhoods. When viewed in the context of the neighborhood,
the size and design of the building emphasizes the neighborhoods early development as
an affluent, late-nineteenth century neighborhood. Since its construction, this building
served its community in a very tangible way by providing life-saving services to local
residents. A neighborhood resident, Drew S., said, “I think it’s a great historic building.
I’m glad to see it in such good condition, and it is great seeing it every morning across
the street. It reminds me about how much history there is to Pittsburgh, and I like that it’s
the EMS headquarters too. I think that’s comforting.”
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10. Integrity

e Location: Itis located on its original lot at the south at the south corner of the intersection
of Filbert and Elmer Streets in the Shadyside neighborhood of Pittsburgh. The building’s
relationship with its location provides a better understanding of the resource’s purpose of
protecting the city’s citizens and expanding late-nineteenth century boundaries.

e Design: The building’s original design is present, with the significantly contributing
features of the resource’s architectural style preserved, including its large arches, stone
belt course, fenestration patterns, and dentils. The resource’s integrity of design also
reflects the building’s historic function and technologies as a turn-of-the-twentieth
century engine house.

e Materials: The resource retains many of its original external and internal construction
materials, including terracotta tiles and ornamentation, wood window sashes, and
brickwork,

e Workmanship: Related to design and materials, the resource’s original workmanship is
evident. The contractor’s skills and labor in constructing the building’s aesthetic
principles that reflect its associated period of architectural style. This category of
integrity is reflected through the building’s symmetrical massing, large arched openings
with terracotta details, arcade fenestration, and accommodation of technological
functions contemporary to the building, such as the hose tower.
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Pittsburgh, PA 15232




Photo #

Description

1 Filbert Street from Elmer Street, Facing Southeast.
2 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Facing Southwest.
3 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Plaque Detail.
4 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Window with Ornamentation,
Facing Southwest.
5 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Center Bay Detail, Facing
South.
6 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Second Story Arcading, Facing
Southwest.
7 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Second Story Arcading Detail,
Facing West.
8 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Southern Crest Relief, Facing
West.
9 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Northern Crest Relief, Facing
West.
10 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Elmer Street Facade, Facing Southwest.
11 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Elmer Street Facade, East Fenestration, Facing
Southeast.
12 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Elmer Street Facade, Fenestration Detail, Facing
Southeast.
13 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Elmer Street Facade, Easternmost Portal, Facing
Southeast.
14 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Elmer Street Facade, Westernmost Portal, Facing
Southeast.
15 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Elmer Street Facade, Gutters, Facing East.
16 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Facade, Facing Northeast.
17 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Facade, Main Entrance, Facing Northwest.




18 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Facade, Gas Storage Addition, Facing
Northeast.

19 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Basement Entrance, Facing

West.

20 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Fence, Facing Southeast.

21 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Fence Detail, Facing South.

22 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Facing Southeast.

23 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Alteration Detail, Facing East.

24 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Northern Hayloft, Facing
Northeast.

25 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Southern Hayloft, Facing
Northeast.

26 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Hose Tower, Facing East.

27 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Hose Tower, Facing Southeast.

28 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Hose Tower, Interior.

29 Pittsburgh EMS Station, Main Garage Bay, Interior.




Photograph 1. Filbert Street from Elmer Street, Facing Southeast. Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 2. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Facing Southwest. Source: Calvin
A Yoder.



Photograph 3. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Plaque Detail. Source: Calvin A
Yoder.

Photograph 4. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Window with Ornamentation,
Facing Southwest. Source: Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 5. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Center Bay Detail, Facing South.
Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 6. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Second Story Arcading, Facing
Southwest. Source: Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 7. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Second Story Arcading Detail,
Facing West. Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 8. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Southern Crest Relief, Facing
West. Source: Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 9. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Northern Crest Relief, Facing
West. Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 10. Pittsburgh EMS Station, EImer Street Facade, Facing Southwest. Source: Calvin
A Yoder.



Photograph 11. Pittsburgh EMS Station, EImer Street Facade, East Fenestration, Facing
Southeast. Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 12. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Elmer Street Facade, Fenestration Detail, Facing
Southeast. Source: Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 13. Pittsburgh EMS Station, EImer Street Facade, Easternmost Portal, Facing
Southeast. Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 14. Pittsburgh EMS Station, EImer Street Facade, Westernmost Portal, Facing
Southeast. Source: Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 15. Pittsburgh EMS Station, EImer Street Facade, Gutters, Facing East. Source:
Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 16. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Facade, Facing Northeast. Source: Calvin A
Yoder.



Photograph 17. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Facade, Main Entrance, Facing Northwest.
Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 18. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Facade, Gas Storage Addition, Facing
Northeast. Source: Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 19. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Filbert Street Facade, Basement Entrance, Facing West.
Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 20. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Fence, Facing Southeast. Source: Calvin A
Yoder.



Photograph 21. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Southern Fence Detail, Facing South. Source: Calvin A
Yoder.

Photograph 22. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Facing Southeast. Source:
Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 23. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Alteration Detail, Facing East.
Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 24. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Northern Hayloft, Facing
Northeast. Source: Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 25. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Southern Hayloft, Facing
Northeast. Source: Calvin A Yoder.

Photograph 26. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Culloden Way Facade, Hose Tower, Facing East.
Source: Calvin A Yoder.



Photograph 27. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Hose Tower, Facing Southeast. Source: Dana Cress.

Photograph 28. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Hose Tower, Interior. Source: Dana Cress.



Photograph 29. Pittsburgh EMS Station, Main Garage Bay, Interior. Source: Dana Cress.
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Figure 2. G.M. Hopkins, Atlas of the City of Pittsburgh, 1890.

Figure 3. G.M. Hopkins, Real Estate Plat Book of the City of Pittsburgh, 1904.



Figure 4. Pittsburgh Press, “New Engine House,” 29 October 1899, p. 12.

Figure 5. Palazzo Medici.



Figure 6. No. 2 Police Station, Pittsburgh City Photograph Collection.

Figure 7. Kelly Strayhorn Theater, East Liberty. Source: cinematreasures.org.



Figure 8. Strand Theater, Oakland. Source:
https://fatherpitt.wordpress.com/2015/06/22/strand-theatre-building-oakland/

Figure 9. Plaza Il Theater, Bloomfield. Source: cinematreasures.org


https://fatherpitt.wordpress.com/2015/06/22/strand-theatre-building-oakland/

Figure 10. Belmar Theater, Homewood. Source: cinematreasures.org

Figure 11. The Querner Theatre (Frederick Theatre), Lawrenceville. Source:
cinematreasures.org.



Figure 12. The Arcadia Theatre, New Bethlehem. Source: cinematreasures.org

Figure 13. Columbia Theatre, Brookville. Source: Brookville Cultural Trust.



Figure 14. The Liberty Theater, New Kensington. Source: cinematreasures.org

Figure 15. Interior of the Strand Theater, EImira New York. Source: cinematreasures.org



Figure 16. Regent Theater, EImira New York. Photograph taken in 1943. Source:
cinematreasures.org

Figure 17. “Great Conflagration at Pittsburgh, Pa.” Nathaniel Currier, 1845.
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